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EDITORIAL FOREWORD

THE current number of this Journal is the seventh and last volume for which the
present editor is responsible. It would be safe to say that since assuming the
editorship in 1979 his dominant concern has had to be increasing costs of
production. This has led to a reduction in the size of the fournal and has also
compelled him to adopt a much more draconic editorial control over material
submitted and published than would have been the case in earlier and happier days.
Fortunately, financial problems have recently been rendered in some degree less
pressing by the introduction of new printing technology which has arrested the
upward spiral of production costs while, at the same time, allowing us to maintain
the high printing standards which are one of the hallmarks of this publication.
Teething problems there certainly have been, but the new methods are now firmly
established, and the Oxford University Press is to be congratulated on the speed and
efficiency with which it has achieved these standards. However, whatever measures
are taken to maintain the economic viability of the Journal, it is safe to say that
financial stringency will continue to dog the editor’s footsteps, and he will continue
to require a measure of forbearance from contributors and readers.

The Society undertook field-work this year at Memphis, Saqqara, and El-
‘Amarna:

Memphis: In 1984 the Memphis Survey worked from 7 October to 24 December, the team
comprising Professor and Mrs H. S. Smith, Mr Saif al-Islam ‘Abd al-Qadir, Miss Janine
Bourriau, Miss Rachel Campbell, Mrs Nicole Douek, Mr Peter French, Miss Helen
Ganiaris, Dr Lisa L. Giddy, Mr David G. Jeffreys, Dr Jaromir Malek, Miss Helen
McKeown, and Mr J. D. Ray. Mr and Mrs Ian Mathieson again joined the team for two
weeks in November to undertake resistivity survey. The Society wishes to express its special
gratitude to Dr Ahmed Kadri, chairman of the Egyptian Antiquities Organization, for
facilitating permission to work, and for lending the administrative and scientific co-
operation of the EAO to the expedition. Many of its officials helped the Society in
administrative matters, especially Dr ‘Ali el-Khouli, Dr Ahmed Moussa, Dr Nassif Hassan,
and Mr Fouad Yacoub. In 1984, for the first time, the newly founded Department of
Egyptian Art at the State University of Memphis, Tennessee, made a major financial
contribution to the Society’s work at Memphis. This most welcome and valuable aid was
contributed under an agreement with the Society for members of the staff and students of
Memphis State University to co-operate scientifically in the work.

As part of the continuing archaeological survey, a site was selected for excavation on the
north-west side of Kém Rabi‘a, 100 m south of the main Saqqara-Bedrashein road. An area
of 500 sq. m was cleared of vegetation and stripped to reveal part of a complex of residential
urban structures of the Nineteenth Dynasty, divided into three main groups within the
excavated area. Structures in the west were more spacious and comprised rooms and
courtyards containing ovens. The eastern block, which is clearly defined by a north-south
wall that continued as a property boundary in the next phase of occupation, consisted of two
small houses, each entered from a brick-paved courtyard across a limestone threshold. The
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more southerly of these two properties contained a large domed brick silo, with a narrow
street leading to it from the north. This street defined the central block, which consisted of
two properties, the more northerly of which seems to be a variation of the ‘standard’
four-room New-Kingdom house known from Amarna (workmen’s village), Deir el-
Medina, and East Karnak.

Faunal remains from the site studied by Dr Howard Hecker, of the American Research
Center in Egypt, showed a preponderance of pig as well as, surprisingly, some human long
bones in the south-west corner. An intact assemblage of flints found in a room of the central
block may have been used for working some soft vegetable fibre. Large quantities of pottery
were recovered, proving to be predominantly of late Eighteenth Dynasty and early to mid
Nineteenth Dynasty date, even in the upper, more contaminated contexts. Metal (chiefly
copper-alloy) objects were plentiful, proving on cleaning to be chiefly tools such as chisels,
awls, bodkins, etc. Little inscribed material was recovered from the contexts so far removed:
several inscribed scarabs/scaraboids (two of Ramesses 11 in the more secure contexts), and
two fragments of a limestone lintel of Sethnakht, lector-priest of Ptah, were found in the fill
of the silo in the south-east corner, close to the more southerly limestone threshold.

Dr Malek and Miss McKeown examined and recorded blocks in an open room of the
‘Petrie Magazine’ at Mit Rahina, as further work towards the first instalment of
the Systematic Corpus of Hieroglyphic Inscriptions and Sculptures from Memphis
(SCHISM). Most of the blocks in this room proved to have belonged to the Throne Room
and adjacent rooms of the palace of Merenptah on Kém Qala‘a, excavated by C. S. Fisher

(1915-18).

Sagqdra: The staff of the expedition were Dr G. 'T'. Martin, Mrs R. Walker, Mr D. A. Aston,
Dr M. Raven, Mr H. van Winkel, and Mr P.-]J. Bomhof. Professor H. D. Schneider visited
the site briefly during the course of the season. The expedition is grateful to friends and
colleagues in the Egyptian Antiquities Organization, in particular Muhammad Ibrahim Aly
(Director of Saqqara), and Osama Fahmy el-Hamzawy, and Mahmoud Abu el-Wafa
(Inspectors of Antiquities, Saqqara). Once again the expedition is greatly indebted to Dr
and Mrs R. Peters (Netherlands Institute, Cairo) for much practical assistance. The major
objective of the joint EES-Rijksmuseum, Leiden, expedition this season (3 January to 28
February 1985) was the excavation of the shaft and chambers of the tomb-chapel of Iurudef,
steward of the princess Tia and her husband Tia, located within the latter’s funerary
complex at Saqqara, and this was successfully achieved. The detailed planning of the
subterranean parts, and the completion of the examination of the skeletal material found,
have been held over until 1986. The tomb chambers were on two levels, both Ramesside in
date, the upper complex being reused for intrusive burials at a later period. Rooms opening
to north and south in the upper level and those to the south in the lower contained some
seventy-five burials, in the form of mummiform coffins, rectangular coffins, papyrus coffers,
and rolled palm-stick mats, others being completely uncoffined. The upper chambers had
been entered by plunderers, who had greatly disturbed the deposit, though probably most of
the material has survived, since the burials here are comparatively poor. However, the
discovery will prove of great interest from many points of view, given the number and
variety of coffins present. Virtually all the skeletal material was preserved, providing
much-needed evidence from the anthropological point of view. The burial chambers of the
upper level had been set on fire in antiquity, and in the charred layer beneath the intrusive
burials were found many objects from the original Ramesside interments, including parts of
the burial equipment of Iurudef himself (including a magnificent shabti) and of members
of his family or household. In contrast to the intrusive burials (which, as yet, cannot be
closely dated) the original burial objects can be dated within the reign of Ramesses II.
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Further burial equipment of this date was found in the chambers at the lower level, and
these rooms had not been reused, though, as expected, they had been plundered in antiquity.

The pottery found in the shaft and chambers remains to be studied in detail next season.
Most of it is certainly Ramesside, and amongst this dated material are fragments of
associated imported wares, Mycenaean and Palestinian.

In view of the comparative scarcity of contexted coffin material from the Memphite
necropolis a special effort was made to record in minute detail the various specimens of
coffins by means of scale drawings, photographs, and iconographical description. A few of
the coffins were inscribed, some with pseudo or meaningless hieroglyphs.

El-‘Amarna: The 1985 season of excavation began on 21 January and ended on 28 March.
The team consisted of Mr B. J. Kemp (director), Miss Ann Bomann, Mrs Linda Hulin,
Miss Janet Richards, Mrs Ann Cornwell (site supervisors), Miss Pamela Rose, Mr Paul
Nicholson (pottery), Mr Ian Shaw (registrar and Hatnub Survey), Dr Howard Hecker
(animal bones), Miss Frances Weatherhead (painted plaster), Mrs Barbara Garfi, Mr
Andrew Boyce (artists), Mr Salvatore Garfi (Amarna Survey), and Mr Christopher Hulin
(house maintenance). Mr Peter French was present for much of the season carrying out a
separate study project on Late-Period pottery at the South Tombs. The Egyptian
Antiquities Organization was represented by Ibrahim Mohammed el-Saidi, who also acted
as a site supervisor, and by Muhammad Abd el-Hamid Khallaf, who accompanied the
Hatnub Survey and South Tombs pottery project. To them, to the members of the
Permanent Committee, to Dr Ahmed Kadri, and Dr “Ali el-Khouli in Cairo, and to their
colleagues in El-Minia—Mahmoud Hamza, Samir Anis, and Adel Hassan—a heartfelt
expression of gratitude is due for enabling another successful season of field-work to take
place. The expedition is also much indebted to Mr C. Keirle and the Hong-Kong Egyptian
Bank for the loan of a four-wheel drive vehicle, and to Mr Ian Mathieson for the loan of an
electric theodolite.

The excavations were again confined to the Workmen’s Village, but within several
different parts of the site:

1 Areanorth of Chapels 570/1 (Linda Hulin). A block of seven 5 m squares was excavated
revealing an entirely new set of animal pens terraced down the hillside on two levels.
Their design is very similar to that of the group uncovered in 1983, and they are
identified as pig pens.

2 Southern edge of Building 400 (Janet Richards). The two squares left unexcavated in
1983 were completed. They contained two sets of the standard pen and yard
arrangement for pig rearing, although one of the pens had later been blocked up when
filled with rubbish.

3 Building 540/1, originally excavated in 1921. The re-clearance of this building has
added many important details and revealed that it was certainly not a chapel. Instead it
must have formed part of the range of buildings connected with the raising of pigs. The
discovery immediately outside of a dump of storage jars heavily encrusted with salt may
be a sign that meat was packed in the building for transportation outside the village. In
addition to clearing the sand from within this building three small enclosures built
against the outside walls were excavated for the first time.

4 Area east of the Walled Village (Ann Bomann). A group of five 5 m squares was
excavated. On the west side, a short section of the village enclosure wall was exposed,
revealing that, as on the south side, no buildings had been constructed against it.
Instead, an open space was left to allow access to various buildings which occupy the
ground to the east of the village. One of these was yet another set of animal pens of the
now familiar type.
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5 Gate Street 8 (Ibrahim M. el-Saidi, Ann Cornwell). This is one of the brick houses
inside the Village which had been left by Peet and Woolley. Despite some modern
disturbance, much valuable evidence was recovered, particularly from the main central
room and one of the rear rooms where the floor deposits remained intact.

6 West Street. An excavation was started to locate West Street houses numbers 1 and 2,
supposed by Peet and Woolley to occupy the south-western corner of the Village.
Neither house, in fact, exists. Part of the area is occupied by an open space and by a row
of small rooms and enclosures built against the south wall. Most of these must belong to
an early stage in the Village’s history since by the time the site was abandoned they were
largely buried in rubbish.

The Amarna Survey (Salvatore Garfi) continued. The sheet for the Central City was
completed, and a good start made on the next one, which covers the Great Aten Temple.
The contouring of the Central City brings out striking changes in levels, particularly around
the King’s House and Great Palace, implying extensive terracing. A large part of a 1: 250
scale map of the Workmen’s Village was also completed.

Faunal analysis (Dr Howatrd Hecker). In addition to further identifications of species
present in the animal bones collected from the excavation, a minute examination was carried
out on a portion of the floor in the Outer Hall of the Main Chapel first excavated in 1983. A
small but valuable collection of fish and bird bones plus craft debris was recovered, which
sheds light on the activities of those who anciently used the chapel.

Pottery (Pamela Rose, Paul Nicholson). The registration of sherds from selected deposits
for computer analysis continued, and in the case of the sherds from the 1981 North City
excavations was completed. It is also proving possible to reconstruct groups of vessels from
undisturbed deposits, such as those in Gate Street house 8, and thus to gain a clearer picture
of pottery in use in given areas as distinct from pottery anciently discarded as rubbish.

Painted wall plaster from the Main Chapel (Frances Weatherhead). A most successful
reconstruction was carried out of a panel containing one of the vultures from the corridor of
the Sanctuary; for this modern lightweight materials were used.

South Tombs Late Period pottery project (Peter French, Andrew Boyce). In the late
nineteenth century the South Tombs were cleared of their filling of sand and other debris.
With certain of them the debris included large quantities of pottery, the bulk of which seems
to represent a brief but intensive period of use in the eighth or seventh centuries Bc. More
than 200 pottery drawings have been prepared.

Hatnub Survey (Ian Shaw). A start was made at the beginning of the season on a study of
the ancient settlement remains around the Hatnub quarries. This involved beginning a
catalogue of the many huts, multi-chambered buildings, and small shrines built of stone
which cover an extensive area of ground and the preparation of a topographic map.

Finally, the new editor. From 1986 ¥EA will be in the hands of Dr A. Leahy of the
Department of Ancient History and Archaeology, University of Birmingham. He
will be well known to many readers as an expert on the Late Period, particularly the
Twenty-sixth Dynasty, and the distinction of his published work leaves no doubt
that the Fournal is passing into the most capable of hands.
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THE SURVEY OF MEMPHIS, 1983

By H. S. SMITH and D. G. JEFFREYS

THE Egypt Exploration Society undertook the third season of its centenary
campaign, to survey and record the monuments and ruins of ancient Mempbhis,
between 20 October and 28 December 1983. The Society is deeply grateful to Dr
Ahmed Kadry, Senior Under-Secretary of State and Head of the Antiquities
Organization, and to his colleagues, for their assistance in organizing this work; also
to Mr Sa‘id el-Fikey, Director of Antiquities for Saqgara and Memphis, and to Mr
Muhammad Yusuf, Inspector of Antiquities attached to the expedition, for their
daily help and co-operation with the work on site. The Society’s staff were H. S.
Smith, Mrs H. F. Smith, D. G. Jeffreys, P. G. French, W. J. Tait, and Miss M.
Kamish. Mr and Mrs I. J. Mathieson again gave their generous assistance by
undertaking a resistivity survey on a selected part of Kém Fakhry.

Following the successful survey of the southern part of the ruin-field (Koms
Sabakha, Helll, Rabi‘a, and Fakhry) in 1981 and 1982,% the northern group of
mounds (Kéms Khanzir, Tuman, Dafbaby, and Aziz) was surveyed in 1983. This
leaves only the mound beneath Mit Rahina village, and the eastern group of mounds
within the military camp (Koms Qala‘a, Arba‘in and Nawa), as well as the outlying
mounds beneath modern villages, to be surveyed at a later date. Jeffreys undertook
all the topographical surveying, contour mapping, levelling, and planning of
individual sites, while Smith, Mrs Smith, and Miss Kamish traversed the mounds at
the north, and certain neglected localities at the south, recording all the loose blocks
and stray architectural elements, whether inscribed or not. Localities, given
temporary numbers for the purposes of this report, are described by Smith first;
identified sites of standing remains are then described by Jeffreys, with comments
on their topographical interest. Tait worked on the papyri, principally letters, from
the Sacred Animal Necropolis at Saqqgara, in preparation for Sagqgdra Demotic
Papyri, 11.

Inscribed blocks and architectural elements

On the north side of the Bedrashein-Saggira motor road, 430 m ENE of the
‘Abu’l-Hol’ colossus of Ramesses II in the Mit Rahina Museum (see fig. 1.2), were
observed fragments of a pink granite colossal statue of a king, almost certainly of
Ramesside date, comprising part of a double crown (see pl. 1, 1), a nemes-headdress,
pleated skirt, leg, back-pillar, and other (unidentified) fragments. Bonomi in 1843

1 H. S. Smith, D. G. Jeffreys, and J. Malek, ¥EA 69 (1983), 30-42.
2 D. G. Jeffreys, J. Malek, and H. S. Smith, YEA 70 (1984), 23-32.
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noted the position of a colossal pink statue, of which the fist is in the British
Museum, some 450 yards (411.5 m) east of ‘Abu’l-Hol’;® almost certainly these
fragments are part of that statue. Its position lies where the eastern approach to
the Ptah-temple enclosure crosses the south-north axis of the Merneptah Palace
building on Kom Qala‘a, an appropriate location either for a single statue or for
a pair. Also on the eastern approach to the Ptah temple, within the east enclosure
wall, was found a group of pink granite blocks (see fig. 1.3); these included an incised
relief of a king which is identical to one found by Hekekyan in 1852-4.4 It may have
formed part of a gate or way-shrine along the Sacred Way.

To the north of Kém Khanzir stood a group of three pink granite basins or
mortars (see fig. 1.4) with, close by to the north, two large blocks of reworked basalt,
excavated by el-Hitta in the 1950s.> North-west of these, in a trench dug by Petrie
along the south side of the north wall of the Ptah enclosure (see fig. 1.5), were
limestone flooring slabs, a yellow limestone basin, and a damaged pink granite relief
block showing Ptah in his booth. The presence of these blocks suggests a
monumental building of the Roman (?) period, perhaps connected with the site of
Kom Khanzir, a little to the south-east (see below).

To the west and north of the modern military camp on Kém Nawa (see fig. 1.6, 7)
are a number of scattered clusters of blocks, mostly of pink granite, which probably
derive from a major New Kingdom temple. One of these pieces, however, a small
black granite block, bears the cartouche of Ammenemes 11, and it is interesting to
note that as long ago as 1843 Lepsius had recorded monuments of Ammenemes I1 at
this spot.® Some of the blocks, notably the column fragments, were reworked in
antiquity and, as found, probably belong to a very late site, perhaps associated with
the large limestone gate (see fig. 1G) recorded by Petrie? and later noted by Dimick to
be surrounded by Hellenistic pottery.® Petrie records a paved road of granite leading
east from this gate (which he tentatively connects with the documented ‘Way of
Anubis’), and on the eastern edge of the ruin-field, in line with this feature, we
located a group of large pink granite columns (see fig. 1.10), sawn lengthwise and
much worn, which might belong to such a road. They bore abraded cartouches and
titularies, probably of Ramesses 11, and may well indicate the proximity of a New
Kingdom site. A limestone fragment bearing the prenomen of Amenophis 111 was
also present here.

On the east wall of Petrie’s ‘camp’ (called the ‘Northern Enclosure’ in the
Topographical Bibliography),® between Kéms Tuman and Dafbaby (see fig. 1.8)
was found a half-cornice, suggesting the presence of a gateway, and perhaps to be
connected with a large white-plastered chamber or recess in the south wall of the

8 J. Bonomi, Trans. Roy. Soc. Lit. 2, 2 (1847), 302 and plate.
* J. Hekekyan MS (BL Add.) 37454.141Vo.

5 Saqgéra Photo Archive (SPA), Box 71.1049.

K. R. Lepsius, Denkmaeler, 1, 9(d); Text, 203.

W. M. F. Petrie, Memphis I (1909), 4, 10, pls. i (H?), xxvii.
J. Dimick, Survey map of Memphis (1955), no. 8.

PM 111 (2), 830.

© ® u &
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enclosure (see fig. 1D). A T'uscan column-capital nearby is, however, more probably
to be associated with a site of considerable interest to the east (see fig. 1.9).
Here we found Corinthian column-capitals and fluted drums, associated with other
architectural elements of Late Roman date, thrown up by army trenching in the
1970s. Fragments of similar pieces scattered through the palm groves of Dafbaby
(see fig. 1.11) may also have come from this site. A little to the north (see fig. 1.12)
is another group of architectural elements of this period, some of which may still be
n situ.

Evidence for other buildings of the Late Roman Period is to be found at the
village of ‘Ezbet Gabry, where large yellow limestone basins, limestone flooring
slabs, and very large (reused) granite elements (see fig. 1.14), all suggest that the
militarily advantageous site of the Apries Palace mound and enclosure was
occupied right up to the abandonment of the site. Blocks recorded by us at fig. 1.1
derive from the excavation by Tahir of an apsidal building (see fig. 14) inside the
south-east corner of the Ptah enclosure.?

Standing remains

Our understanding of the topography of ancient Memphis has been greatly
advanced in the last year by the discovery in the British Library Department of
Manuscripts of the records of Joseph Hekekyan, an Armenian civil engineer who
in 1851 was commissioned to carry out geological soundings at Heliopolis and
Memphis.!! The work, sponsored by Leonard Horner of the Geological Society of
London, and by the Royal Society, was ostensibly to record the rise in the
water-table during the annual rise of the river, and to calculate the rise in the alluvial
flood-plain since antiquity. Under Hekekyan’s enthusiastic direction the work took
on a more ambitious aspect, and ended with his discovery of parts of at least thirteen
colossal statues, including that which now adorns the central railway station in
Cairo, as well as numerous segments of in-situ buildings and pavements. In view of
Hekekyan’s prominent place in the history of the exploration of Mempbhis, and of his
almost complete obscurity as far as the Egyptological literature is concerned, we
propose to present those parts of Hekekyan’s journals and correspondence which
relate to Memphis in a future fascicule of the final survey report.

A group of granite blocks was found in a position corresponding to Hekekyan’s
‘east gate of the Ptah sanctuary’ (fig. 1.3): one of these pieces bears part of a relief
figure wearing a horned crown, which was excavated by Hekekyan in 1852, together
with another block showing the lower part of the same figure.!? The relocation of
these blocks gives us a very fair idea of the positions of two of his more extensive
sites, one to the south (‘Excavation VII’), where a row of pedestals and an east-facing
doorway were found iz situ. This is almost certainly part of the inner sanctuary of
the Ptah temple, and the only such building known to have survived the ravages
of the Middle Ages. Inscriptions on the pedestals, copied by Hekekyan, show the

10 SPA, File 48,83. u WWWE (2), 138-9. 12 Hekekyan MS 37454.141Vo.
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cartouches of Ramesses 11, Merneptah, and Psammetichus, as well as the late form
of the cartouche of the Aten.!® To the north, a pavement incorporating reused
blocks of a building of Akhenaten!* was found (later described by Sir Charles
Nicholson),!® and here the early form of the Aten cartouche is exhibited.

We have been able to identify other sites of Hekekyan that are of exceptional
interest: he claims to have excavated part of the Nilometer of Memphis in 1852, on
the eastern edge of the mound we now call Arba‘in (see fig. 1B), and to have seen
sections of the riverside wall to the north of this excavation.!® From his manuscript
maps we were able in 1983 to relocate his excavation and clear some of the collapsed
material away from the site, to confirm the date of the building as Roman, possibly
Hadrianic. The function of the structures must remain in doubt until further work
can be done here; however, the identification of the long north-south stretches of
wall (see pl. 1, 2) as parts of the riverside defence works seems inescapable. The
surrounding and covering stratigraphy also showed that the structure remained in
use well into the Islamic Period (it is in fact the only part of the site where extensive
occupation at this time can be demonstrated) and accords well with medieval
accounts stating that the Memphis Nilometer remained in use until the completion
of the Roda Gauge,!” and that its whereabouts was still known in the fourteenth
century AD.!8

We observed similar masonry at ‘Ezbet el-Ma‘mal, a village built on rising ground
to the east of, and physically distinct from, the main body of the ruin-field. Here
a saltpetre works was established in the 1820s by Mohammad Aly,!® consisting of
a wide concrete platform on a hard core of rubble masonry. The occurrence of Late
Ptolemaic and Roman sherds nearby (see fig. 1E) suggests that the nineteenth-
century architects might have made use of a pre-existing ancient site, which would
be a candidate for one of the ‘islands of Memphis’ known to have existed until the
sixth century AD.%°

An enigmatic building at Kém Khanzir, in the north-east corner of the Ptah
enclosure, was excavated by Hekekyan, who found sunken basins, segments of
limestone pavement, and a curious ‘altar’ on which he found ‘cylindrical vases filled
with grey ash’ (actually jar stands).?! Very little now remains of the structures
recorded by him, but some of the pavement has survived and was drawn by the
Survey, along with five whole or fragmentary basins which seem to have been found
in subsequent work (see fig. 1C).

The Late Roman architectural fragments noted on Kém Dafbaby (see above and
fig. 1.9) appear to be associated with raw-brick walls visible in the side of the army

13 Hekekyan MS 37452.261.

14 Hekekyan MS 37454.57Vo.

15 C. Nicholson, Aegyptiaca (1891), 117-34.

18 Hekekyan MS 37452.277-81.

17 Ibn Abd al-Hakam, Futih misr (1922), 16. 21-2.

18 Al-Qalgashandi, Subk 3 (1914), 298.

19 Aly Mubérak, Khitat (1969), 9.14. We are grateful to G. Alleaume of the Institut frangais, Cairo, for sight

of her forthcoming translation and commentary of Aly Mubaérak.
20 ¥EA 69 (1983), 40. 21 Hekekyan MS 37452.273-4.
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trench. Although there is as yet no firm identification of this structure, it is worth
noting that statues from a third- or fourth-century Ap temple of Mithras were
observed in this area as long ago as 1849,%? and the pieces observed by us might
derive either from such a building or from a church established, as was not
uncommon, on the site of the pagan temple.

In addition to the scheduled field-work of the Survey, two co-operative pieces of
work were undertaken in 1983. The first of these was the small chapel (‘oratory’) of
Sethos I on Kém Rabi‘a, just within the south-west corner of the Ptah temple
enclosure wall (see fig. 1]). This had been included in the survey in 1982 at the basic
map scale of 1 : 1000, but had not been planned in more detail because it is no longer
in its original position, having been raised and reconstructed by the Antiquities
Organization in the 1960s. However, in 1983 the late Dr Labib Habachi, who
excavated this monument in 1950,2% and Mme Berlandini-Keller, who had begun
work with him on the publication of the chapel, requested a large-scale plan to
accompany their publication. A plan was, therefore, made at a scale of 1: 50, and
levels readings taken for axonometric projections.

The second co-operative undertaking was the planning and levelling of two sites
which were being excavated by the Antiquities Organization in advance of local
building programmes. Both excavations were supervised by Mr Muhammad
Réshid, Inspector of Antiquities at Memphis, at whose request the planning was
carried out. The second of these two sites (see fig. 1H) showed two phases of domestic
occupation, apparently both of New Kingdom date and both lying over 2 m above
the level of the Ramesside temple floors to the east. This recalls the disparity of levels
noted at the First Intermediate Period cemetery on Kom Fakhry,?4 and suggests that
the nucleus of the earlier part of the city extended at least as far south as this.

The routine taking of levels readings continued in all parts of the 1983 Survey
concession. One fact to emerge is that the Roman ‘riverside wall’, although greatly
reduced since Hekekyan’s day, is preserved at a height greater than that of the
Ramesside temple floors, suggesting a rise in ground level at the river edge of at least
1 m during the first millennium Bc.

An additional project this season was the routine plotting of some of the massive
brick enclosure walls to be seen at the site, other than those of the Ptah temple and
the Northern Enclosure (Petrie’s ‘camp’). These raw-brick walls must have been an
important feature of the city in the Ptolemaic and Roman Periods, if not earlier, and
we have tentatively identified enclosures on Kéms Arba‘in and Qala‘a, to the east
and south-east of the Ptah temple respectively, as well as recording clear evidence
of additional enclosures to the north and south of the Northern Enclosure (Koms
T'uman and Dafbaby), suggesting that the oval depression between Mit Rahina and
T'uman might, like the central depression, denote another (sacred?) enclosure at this
point, and not a Sacred Lake as suggested by Petrie.?®

22 A.von Laurin, Sitzungsb. Kai. Akad. Wien (Phil.-Hist. 2), (1849), 252-4; A. Wiedemann, Wiener Z.K.M.
31 (1924), 310-12. 23 1. Habachi, in R. Anthes, Mit Rahineh 1955 (1959), 4 n. 8.
2 JEA 69 (1983), 40, fig. 5. 25 Petrie, Memphis I (1909), 3, pl. i.
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It is conceivable that some, if not all, of these enclosures are those of the
self-contained foreign quarters of the city, housing the disparate ethnic groups
(Syrians, Idumaeans, Jews, Persians, Greeks) who lived here. Petrie’s contention
that the foreign quarter must have been on Qala‘a, because that was where the
majority of terracottas of non-native ethnic types were found, is more difficult to
accept today: the identification of the “T'emple of Proteus’ of Herodotus with the
palace precinct of Merneptah is dubious in view of Fisher’s discovery that the palace
was destroyed at a comparatively early date,?® and that, certainly by the mid-sixth
century BC, the site must have been buried to a depth of several metres of occupation
deposits, except at the south gate, where the high portals remained standing above
the accumulated debris.

Much further work will be required in future seasons to confirm and clarify the
existence, extent, and identity of these and other enclosures. Such investigations
must, however, await the establishment of a sound stratigraphic sequence for
Memphis, which will be the next task of the EES Survey: to this end, a site for
excavation on Kom Rabi‘a, to the south-east of the early Middle Kingdom cemetery,
has been selected for excavation in 1984.

26 C. S. Fisher, Penns. Univ. Mus. Journal 8 (1917), 227; 12 (1921), 30.
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QASR IBRIM 1984

By J. A. ALEXANDER and B. DRISKELL

IT had been intended to devote this season to completing the study of the Early and
Classic Christian remains at Qasr Ibrim, but, on arrival, the extremely low level of
Lake Nasser made a partial change of plan necessary. The eastern quarter of the
walled settlement had been flooded before more than a small test excavation could be
carried out (FEA4 61 (1975), 27), and it had always been assumed that this part of the
site had been destroyed. A drop in the lake’s level of some 10 m exposed all but a
small part of the flooded area (see fig. 1), and trial excavations showed that much,
especially of the earlier periods of settlement, survived. Attention was, therefore,
paid to this area in continuation of the UNESCO rescue programme and three areas
were finally sampled.
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The Society’s 1984 season of work at Qasr Ibrim took place from 8 January until
24 March, and the following specialists took part: Dr J. Alexander and Mr B.
Driskell (Field Archaeologists), Mr J. Knudsted and Miss K. Fernie (Architect and
Surveyor), Mr P. French (Recorder), Ms E. Crowfoot and Mrs N. Adams (Textile
Analysts), Dr P. Rowley Conwy (Plant/Animal Remains Analyst), Miss P. Rose
(Ceramic Analyst), Mrs M. Stafford-Blustain (Basketry Analyst), Dr M. Hainsworth
(Epigraphist), Mr E. Adams and Miss M. J. Foley (Computer specialists), Mr A.
Bonner (Photographer), Mrs D. Driskell (Domestic Bursar), and Dr M. Plant
(Medical Officer): Professor W. Adams helped greatly in the preparations for, and
in the first two weeks of, the season. Sixty workmen from Quft were employed under
Reis Bashir. The Inspector of Antiquities attached to the expedition was Sayed
el-Saied Abd’il Masaud Mohammed. Our thanks are due to Dr Khadri and the
Egyptian Antiquities Service for permission to excavate and for the hire of their
boats, and to Sayed Abdin Siam for help in making the arrangements in Aswan.
Financial support for the season came from the Society, from the Smithsonian
Institution, and from the Chase Fund of the American Research Center in Cairo, to
whom we are grateful.

Summary of the evidence recovered from the objects

As is usual at Qasr Ibrim, a large number of objects of all kinds was recovered,
recorded, and analysed during the season. Recording took place on cards, computer
discs, and photographs throughout the excavation.

Texts.! The 1984 season provided nearly 1,000 inscribed fragments: hieroglyphic 6; demotic
12; Meroitic 105; Latin 7; Greek 16; Coptic 61; Greek/Coptic 26; Old Nubian 85; Arabic
622; uncertain 26. (Total 966.) They were written on papyrus, leather, wood, stone, and
paper. At all levels, whatever the language, there was reuse of earlier fragments, Meroitic
on Meroitic, hieratic on demotic, Greek on Meroitic, and Old Nubian on Greek. Most
interesting was part of a bilingual document in Greek and Old Nubian. For the first time at
Qasr Ibrim, inscriptions in Meroitic accounted for nearly a third of the non-Arabic finds
(105 out of 344). The significance of this total becomes apparent if we compare it with the
total published Meroitic corpus from Egypt and the Sudan which does not exceed goo
pieces. The presence in the texts of titles such as King (gore), prince (pgr), and general
(pelmos adeblise) suggests that Ibrim was one of the major administrative cities in Lower
Nubia. It was also a major religious centre, and from this season’s texts we have the names of
the main deities Isis (was), Horus (ar), Amin of Napata (Amrapte), Re< (Ms), and the Lion
god Apedemak. Many personal names are recorded, the most interesting being Apodi-
meteye (‘The one of Ibrim’). Among the many Christian fragments there were letters with
references to kings, princes, and bishops, and biblical fragments include a fine illuminated
page. A number of fragments overwritten in Arabic, from sealed Christian deposits, show
that both languages were in use in the later Christian Period. The majority of the Islamic
inscriptions were in Arabic, many of them from before AD 1500. Among the post-1500 ones
were a number of Ottoman military pay dockets—the eight dated ones ranging from 1572 (?)
to 1628. Fragments of letters, commercial and religious, were also found.

1 Information from Dr Hainsworth.
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Pottery.? Some 120,000 sherds were processed and recorded during the season; these
covered all periods from the Napatan to the Late Christian. Amongst them, the substantial
amounts of pottery from the Roman and Meroitic levels were of particular interest, and have
enabled further refinements to be made to the original ware classifications. Pottery of the
Napatan Period was also recovered, the first time that such material has come to light at
Ibrim. The sherds fall into four relative chronological groupings, contemporary with the
Twenty-fifth and T'wenty-sixth Egyptian Dynasties, but show no direct connection with
the pottery known from early Meroitic sites in southern Nubia, a situation suggesting
a relatively short-lived occupation at Ibrim. A number of complete vessels were found
dating mainly from the X-Group Period, and also most of a Twenty-sixth Dynasty white
ribbed-jar, still in its original carrying-net.

Basketry.® From a large number of basketry fragments, 1,150 well-stratified pieces were
analysed in detail on forms suitable for computer utilization. It is now possible to recognize
chronological variation in the basketry, in particular Late Christian and Meroitic-X-Group
styles. Numbers of palm-fibre sandals of those periods were also found.

Rope, cordage, and string. 'The computerized system of analysis for these materials was
further refined during the 1984 season, and approximately 1,100 specimens were analysed.
The majority were between 0.3 and 1.5 cm in diameter and were made from either palm leaf
or palm fibre. Cordage made of grass was the third highest in frequency. Among the
complete specimens simple plied-loops and nooses were most common, but more elaborate
plaits and sennits were present. The most common knots were overhand, followed by
keep-knots (for joining lengths together) and sheet-bends (for netting). It is probable that
knots and other aspects of manufacture, such as direction of ply and material type, may be
proved to be culturally distinctive.

Textiles.* During the 1984 excavations over 10,600 textile items were analysed, 501 being
individually catalogued, cleaned, and preserved. The material was varied, some from
Islamic pits including tiny scraps of fine imported fabrics, and much Christian material
including coloured bands, twill from linen veils, and brocaded and tapestry-woven brown
woollens. The corpse in one well-preserved Christian burial (965) was clothed in a tunic of
‘Byzantine’ cut (?sixth-seventh century), with a shoulder neck-opening and shaped sleeves;
the middle one of his three shrouds was of Egyptian-style flax, bound with two criss-crossed
bands, one decorated with red tapestry-woven crosses, the other a coarse two-colour
warp-face band generally associated with burials, particularly those of the Early Christian
period.

The Meroitic material, notably that from Area 357, was outstanding (though naturally
often fragile, and, as in previous seasons, heavily mended); the great variety of elaborate
lattice-patterned fringes from kilts and shawls suggested pieces deliberately removed and
preserved, as did some of the heavy blue embroidery from Late Meroitic loin-cloths and
‘aprons’. Stages in the introduction of wool in weaving and decoration found here in the
mainly cotton material of this civilization should prove an interesting field for future study.
Earlier material included fragments which, to judge from comparison with the sealed South
Rampart deposits of 1980, belong to the Roman occupation, while 140 items which can be
assigned to the Napatan Period show very clearly the Egyptian connection, being woven in
their characteristic S-spun, S-ply flax, much of exceedingly fine quality.

Leather.® From a much larger number of finds, some 1,500 pieces of leather from
well-stratified contexts were examined and catalogued in a form suitable for computer

2 Information provided by Miss Rose. 3 Information provided by Mrs Blustain.
* Information provided by Ms Crowfoot and Mrs Adams. % Information provided by Mr French.
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analysis. They included over 200 complete or near complete objects many of them of the
Christian Period. These were mostly bags of all sizes and shoes, but included scabbards,
book-covers, and amulet cases.

Metal, glass, wood, stone, and clay.® Because much of the work of the season was concentrated
in areas where organic materials had already been destroyed by water, fewer objects of these
materials were registered than in recent seasons. The largest stone pieces included an
inscribed lintel, fragments of carved door lintels and window grills of Meroitic and
X-Group date, and a few badly broken pieces of temple statues which are either Napatan or
Meroitic. As usual, the other large objects are mostly of clay, the most interesting object
being a triangular model building of the Christian Period which may have been intended for
use as an incense burner. The wooden objects included pins, combs, spindle whorls, and
fragments of locks, beds, and chairs; the finest was a figurine of a standing male child, which
must be of Dynastic Egyptian date. The metal work, with the exception of a silver ‘wedjat’
eye amulet, was of iron or copper/bronze, and for the most part of a domestic (scissors,
knives, and toilet articles) or religious nature; it included several crosses from the Christian
Period. A bronze personal stamp with an Arabic inscription of the type used on many of the
documents of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries AD was found in the Ottoman levels.
Coins were few, all of copper or bronze, and of Ptolemaic and Islamic types.

Plant remains.® Only a preliminary study of several hundred plant samples taken from house
floors and pits has so far been made, but the results include identifying winnowing, storage,
and grinding areas, and the study of a variety of crops including barley, pennisetam, wheat,
cotton, and a number of spices and medicinal plants.

Animal remains.® The excellent preservation of animal remains, hair, skin, bones, and dung,
meant that some 10,000 bone fragments were available for preliminary study. It is hoped
that they will throw light upon the introduction of the camel and on the management of
caprid, bovid, and equid communities.

The excavations

The rocky hilltop on which Qasr Ibrim stands must, before human alterations, have
been an irregular right-angled triangle with its apex to the north (see fig. 1). Its
slopes were clifflike on the west and south but to the east there was a long stretch of
more gently sloping terraces giving the only easy access to the tilted plateau of the
hilltop. The nature of the topography was apparent; for the waters of L.ake Nasser,
which flooded all except the hilltop to a depth of 12 m after 1970, eroded most of the
human deposits and buildings, and then exposed some 1.5 hectares of the terraces in
the exceptionally low lake levels of 1984 (9 m below 1980). Five terraces were visible
on the eastern side, with a total vertical drop of some 12 m. Half of the length of the
upper four had been swept clear of human settlement, except for storage pits or
recesses cut into the rock, but the lowest had been partly protected by the town wall
and partly by a layer of stones and debris from the destroyed buildings higher up
the terraces. The rocky spine of the hilltop could be seen to have projections to the
north-east and north so that the terraces were divided into two crescent-shaped areas
with a promontory between them. North of the promontory, where the town wall
had collapsed in several places before the waters rose, there had been little protection

5 Information provided by Mr French. ¢ Information provided by Dr Rowley-Conwy.
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for the buildings inside it, and the more recent structures had been swept away.
South of the promontory, where much the same area had been under water for ten
years, the town wall had resisted erosion and still stood to a height of at least 4 m.
As a result the buildings behind it, and even those higher on the slope inside it, were
better preserved, and remains of all periods were found. The northern extremity of
the hill, around the small temple (No. 1) had also been largely swept clear of the
deposits by the waters. The three areas excavated may now be considered in turn:

AREA 1
The plazas north and west of the cathedral

West of the cathedral all of the overlying Islamic structures had been excavated in 1978 and
removed, and much of the underlying Christian deposits excavated (see fig. 2). In 1984 the
remaining Christian deposits in the area were investigated and removed; only 1-2 m of
older deposits ranging from X-Group to Napatan age now remain in this area. North of the
cathedral, excavation of the Islamic remains was completed, and our work revealed up to 3 m
of deposits and architectural features ranging in age from Late Christian to Napatan; the

Podium cut

Cathedral N
Street 327

\1 Unexcavated

Approx. scale 1: 500

Fic. 2. The Cathedral Plazas. Meroitic structures, 1000; X-Group with Christian reuse, 253/931, 783, 1030,
1050, 210; Christian, 196, 194/202, 205
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whole area was much disturbed by quarry pits of the early Islamic Period. Excavations thus
far in the cathedral plazas have penetrated systematically through Christian deposits, and
the remaining deposits of up to 2 m in depth belong to X-Group, Meroitic, Roman, and
Napatan utilization of the area (in units 9og, 910, 911, 912, 913, 914, and 991). On the basis
of the widely dispersed X-Group deposits in this area, we can confirm that X-group
structures occupied most of the area prior to construction of the cathedral. After the
building of the cathedral the whole area appears to have remained a slowly developing
ecclesiastical area which probably contained a monastery and a number of substantial
houses. In early Islamic times it was first derelict and used for quarrying and was then, in
the late seventeenth century, cleared and covered with dwellings on new alignments.

AREA 2
The eastern terraces and the northern peninsula

The north-east terraces. Here, north of a central rocky promontory on which the great Town
Gate was built, an area of some 45 x 25 m (c. 1125 m?) presented, after the waters had
retreated, three terraces of bare rock and a fourth, the lowest, strewn with stones and pottery
(see pl. 11, 2 and fig. 3). Test excavation showed that silt, in which the tops of walls were
seen, extended over 360 m?. Water erosion had, in this area, removed all levels more recent
than the fifth/sixth centuries Ap. The only traces of X-Group, Christian, and Islamic
Periods other than a thin surface of sherds, were when features had been dug down into the
earlier levels. On the lower terrace, however, up to 1 m of soil belonging to those earlier
levels, and undisturbed by the water, remained. The results may be discussed by period:

Twenty-fifth Dynasty and Napatan Period

The only evidence from this area of any remains from before c.300 BC were finds of pottery of
Napatan type from beneath the Meroitic buildings. In house 1002B, under rooms 15 and 16,
including their walls, was a thin stratum of earth lying on the sloping surface of bedrock; it
appeared to be a rubbish tip from the top terrace.

The Meroitic Period

The terrace was shown to have been covered with buildings of stone and mud brick of this
period which formed three complexes (1002 A, B, and C), probably domestic in nature. The
walls and floors, although under water for so many years, were well preserved and, in all,
thirty-three rooms, storage crypts, and cisterns were excavated; they were not disturbed by
later pitting. T'wo of the complexes, 1002B and C, were apparently built as part of a single
operation since they had a common party-wall without doorways for the whole of their
length (c. 17 m). This wall, still stood to a height of 1.6 m. No Post-Meroitic remains were
recognized in this area.

The central promontory. For some 25 m in the centre of the eastern terraces, a natural
promontory of rock offers a cliff face with a drop of 11.6 m. It was here that the builders
chose to make a town gate, setting its back wall on a narrow terrace some 5 m from the
middle part of the cliff, and cutting its lower staircase deep into the rock. Behind the gate a
series of above- and underground rooms were built at the same time as the gate.

The Town Gate and eastern defences. Important new evidence of the nature of the defences on
the eastern side of town was found in 1984 and can be added to the architectural study of the
great East Gate made in 1973. It was possible to study the town wall at either end of the
eastern terraces and to section the deposits immediately behind them.
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Fi1c. 3. North-east quarter of Qasr Ibrim (previously under 7 m of water). Meroitic structures planned and
excavated in 1984

At the north-eastern end a re-entrant and joint in the town wall had not previously
been noted where House 1003B met the rampart. Further north the rampart, although
not sectioned, could be seen to be 0.75 m wide and a single thickness of fine ashlar. At
the point where House 1002B met the rampart the latter turns sharply to the east and
becomes a double wall 2 m wide with stones infilling between the two. Much larger
(up to 1.0 X 1.0 X 0.5 m) more roughly shaped blocks of stone were used and there was a
70 cm wide bank of stones built against the wall on the inner side. There was alsoa 1 X 2m
wide stone buttress to the wall under House 1002B, Room 15. The stretch of the town wall
from this point to the gate appeared to have been built as a single straight homogenous
stretch.

There is no doubt that the town wall elsewhere belonged to the period 300 BCc-AD 100.
This was demonstrated, for example, at the north west Bastion where the earliest wall was
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found inside the Roman-built Bastion (FEA 69 (1983)) and in south Rampart Street where a
succession of walls could be dated to the same period. In the area examined in 1984, the East
Gate and the stretch of wall on either side appear to be an alteration to a previous defensive
line, perhaps to include an extra area of terraces for buildings. The blocking of the other
(south) Town Gate, which was also built during the period 300 Bc-AD 300, took place before
the end of that period, and it seems reasonable to link its blocking with the building of a new
(east) gate. The military problems (for no others seem relevant) which dictated this major
change are difficult to envisage since the form of the new gate is not substantially different
from the old. It did, in fact, continue the tradition of military engineering developed in the
South Gate, which had successively reduced the width of the entrance from 4.50 to 1.25 m.

The internal organization of the new gate made it more difficult to force than the old one,
but the rock-cut steps and the right-angle bend cannot have been intended for camel or
equid transport; the problem of water supply must have been made more difficult by the new
gate. It is possible that an enlargement of the defended settlement was required, and, if so,
the eastern terraces were the only possible extension, but the amount of work required to
defend the extra hectares was exorbitant. One other possibility is that the structural
weakness of the South Gate was already apparent. The outer half of the gate was built upon
a stratum of very soft sandstone which, as exposed recently by the water, was already badly
eroded and propped by a pile of stones at some time in antiquity. It would not have required
much sapping by attackers to bring down the South Gate and there was no way, except
complete rebuilding, of dealing with the problem.

Early fortification or revetting wall r077. This consists of a stretch of wall made of larger
stones than is usual at Ibrim (c. 1.0 X 5.0 X 0.4 m); it still stands 4 m high against a cliff face
on the hillside (see fig. 3) and lay 12 m south of House 1001. It was aligned south-east-north-
west along the hillside and looked substantial enough to have been the defensive wall of an
earlier and smaller settlement. It was indicated on the 1963 survey as being visible, with a
gap and a slight change of alignment, for some 30 m. Most of its length is now buried under
spoil heaps and rock-falls; for much of it had been under water since 1975. In 1984 an area of
the lower part of the wall 11.5 m long was exposed and the opportunity was taken to examine
it by excavating trenches in front and behind it to bedrock. At the south end it was covered
by spoil dump of the 1960s and is so preserved for further study. At the north end it was
found to be built on to the slope of the hillside but did not continue along it. In the lower
trench it was found to be based on soil 80 cm above bedrock. The sherds from beneath it
suggest that it was built no earlier than later Meroitic times. Its purpose would seem to have
been to revet the edge of a stretch of soft bedrock, presumably to safeguard the area below
and perhaps to act as the rear wall of a building on the higher slope. It is likely that it was
built as part of the construction of the Town Gate and wall nearby and that it safeguarded
the main street from the gate to the centre of the settlement. In Islamic times the street,
called at different times in recent years Regent Street and Stable Street, climbed the hillside
between complexes B1o6 and B1o3 and a rather similar stretch of revetting wall bordered
the street beside B58, 56, and 55. In the stretch tested by excavation there were no remains of
buildings behind it, nor were any visible on the surface in 1963.

The south-east terraces. South-east of the rocky promontory a second 70 m crescent of
terraces had been protected by the survival of the town wall to a height of more than 4 m. As
a result, the terraces had not been stripped of their soil or their buildings. In Islamic times
more houses had existed here on the higher terraces than further north-east, and the
destruction of these houses by water had covered the hillside at this point with a thick layer
of stones. Since time was limited, and the area might well not be available again, six areas
where walls showed were selected for excavation, three at the water’s edge (1001, 1003,
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1005), and three higher on the hillside (1035, 1036, and 1037). When the thick covering
of stones had been removed it became clear that the whole slope of the hill had been
covered with buildings set closely one above the other for some 2,000 years. None of
the six areas showed pre-Meroitic strata although Napatan pottery was found. Meroitic
structures were found in areas 1005, 1035, and 1036, and a stratum containing a scatter of
pottery of this period lay under 1001. In the north, nearest to the town wall, substantial
remains of four X-Group buildings (1003, 1037, 1036, and 1035) survived (see fig. 4). At
seven other places on the hillside pottery of this period was found in test pits below
more recent buildings, suggesting that there was utilization of the whole area in
X-Group times.

In conclusion, it can be suggested that the eastern side of the hill was used less intensively
between AD 300 and 600 than the western side. North of the Town Gate it was little used, and
south of the gate, although the area was used, there is less evidence of planning than further
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west, a situation suggesting piecemeal building and larger complexes. The guardroom to
the gate was certainly manned for most of this period as, presumably, was the lookout/

guardroom on the southern end of the terraces.

The Christian Period in Arvea 2

Much of the evidence of this period had been washed away from the eastern terraces. Since
the East Gate was the only entrance to the settlement, it is certain that the gate and the street
leading from it were in constant use, and from the 1984 and 1974 excavated evidence some

buildings existed on the terraces (see fig. 5).
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The Early Christian Period (4D 600-1100). All structures of the Christian Period had been
washed away from the terraces north of the gate and no storage crypts had been sunk into the
earlier deposits. A small number of Early Christian sherds were scattered on the surface of
the lowest terrace and on the uppermost level of the House 1002B, room 6D. Some traces of
rectangular rooms cut into the rock of the higher terraces may be of this period but no dating
evidence remained in them. The absence of appropriate debris on the conflated land-surface
strongly suggests that little use was made of this area in Early Christian times. In the central
area, the 1974 and 1984 excavations showed that the guardhouse and storerooms by the gate
were long out of use at this time and infilled with rubbish. The street above it was certainly
in use, with hard-packed surfaces covered with dung. South of the Gate, Houses 1003,
1036A, and 1037B yielded Early Christian sherds, whilst the excavation of the Early
Christian House 1001, begun in 1974, was completed during the current season.

Classic and Late Christian Periods. No evidence of the Classic Christian period came from
any part of the eastern quarter of the town in 1984 and very little of the Late Christian
Period, although the town wall was repaired here during this time.

Conclusions. It seems unlikely, even when so much evidence has been washed away, that
there was an intensive Christian occupation of this part of the settlement. The Town Gate
and the street from it to the area of the cathedral naturally remained in use, but there seems,
except for the area near the southern side of the gate in the Early Christian Period, to have
been little use of the hillside, and no storage crypts were sunk into the earlier strata.

The Islamic Period (AD c.1300-1813)

Very few finds of Islamic remains were made anywhere in 1984. The best evidence of
Islamic activity was from the uppermost trampled surfaces in the 2 m of street deposit
behind the Town Gate and from Houses 1036 and 1037. The plan of the standing Islamic
buildings in 1964 showed only two complexes on the eastern terraces, one of three rooms
(B106) beside the street up from the gate, and the other (B1o4) on the highest southern point
inside the town wall. There were no buildings on the terraces north of the gate, but on the
actual hilltop there were three complexes (B81, 82, and 83). These had not been recorded
before they were flooded and were, in 1984, mounds of stones on the hilltop or stone rubble
down its side. The lowest courses of the walls were found within the mounds, and it proved
possible to plan them, but no occupation debris remained. South of the Town Gate two
complexes (B10o6 and B1o4) were also planned from their debris.

During the Ottoman occupation little use was made of the eastern terraces. There was no
evidence of quarrying for stone, as there was further west, and there was no evidence of
storage pits and very few new buildings. The B1o4 complex could have been a military one
and the others, at the top of the slopes, domestic. Only the gate and the street to it were
in regular use.

The northern peninsula. A submerged area of the hilltop and hillside north and south of
Temple 1 (see fig. 4) became available in 1984, and was also examined but not excavated. In
Islamic times it had been covered by houses and even Temple 1 had been used as a house.
Almost the whole area of the settlement at the northern end of the hilltop could be examined,
only a single house (Bgs) with three rooms still being submerged. This part of the site
received the full force of the waves driven down the lake by the often fierce north winds.

The soil-cover on this area must have been very thin, probably no more than a few
centimetres in most places, and the water had washed this away leaving bare rock. The walls
of the houses had been set on bedrock but all had collapsed, and much of the area was
covered with stones. These stones preserved the plans of most of the houses and the water
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had shown up rock-cut features, a number of which, since they are under Islamic walls, were
older. No walls which might have preceded the Islamic houses were noted and, unless the
area was stripped in Islamic times, it seems likely that there were no buildings here other

than a monumental structure, Temple 1, which has tentatively been dated to the Meroitic
Period.

Temple 1

This temple was surveyed by Dales in 1964 when its interior was still covered by later
domestic buildings. When it re-emerged in 1984 these buildings had been destroyed by the
water and, in their rubble, much of the outline of the original temple could be seen and
planned. It can now be seen to have been a large rectangular building, and at the south end
its pylon still largely survives. The temple was built on a 1.37 m high plinth cut from
bedrock with a man-made level platform to the south of it. The massive blocks of its walls
were tied together, and a fine stone window grill found in the tumbled stones nearby may
have come from it. An oddity in its positioning is that it is not central to its platform, but it is
to the east side of it, and its main gateway opens where the eastern terraces begin to descend
the hillside. There is no evidence from the lower eastern terraces beside the platform of
much washing down of material from above, and there is unlikely to have been an extension
of the platform to the east. The temple is likely to have been approached either by road along
the eastern terraces above Houses 1002A and 1002C or by one coming down from the south
along the spine of the hilltop.

No periods of use can at present be suggested for the other twenty-one structures cut into
the sandstone bedrock in this area except that the position of some of them shows them to be
pre-Islamic; almost all deposits have been washed away; careful future work under walls
and in isolated pockets of soil may help here.

It seems likely that this area of Ibrim, like the north-eastern terraces, was relatively little
used after the Meroitic Period. It is possible that the rock-cut cisterns and niches belong to
that period since close parallels for them exist in well-dated Houses 1002A, B, and C lower
down the slope. Some use may have been made of the area in X-Group and Christian times,
but it was only in Islamic times that a series of large courtyard houses was built here. At least
eleven houses can then be recognized, and their size suggests wealthy owners.

AREA 3
The temple complex

This complex of monumental buildings at the south end of Ibrim was largely excavated in
the 1960s and 1970s. Work in 1984 elucidated the area further and began to prepare it for
conservation (see fig. 6).”

Pre-Taharka Temple structures

The early defensive wall (South Girdle Wall). The earliest structure yet recognized at Ibrim,
the South Girdle Wall, was more fully exposed along its already known south-eastern line.
Small fragments of similar masonry on the west side of the temple complex seem to belong
to the same wall. Tests into upper deposits against the inner face of the wall have yielded
ceramics dated to the Twenty-fifth Dynasty. It is clear from this season’s exposures that the
4 m wide wall was already a ruin less than 2 m high with an exterior face buried in rubble at
the moment of establishment of the Taharka Temple over it (see below).

7 The work was carried out by Mr Knudsted with a grant from the Chase Foundation.
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Buildings. Tests into relatively shallow deposits (averaging less than 1 m), lying between the
base of the Taharka Temple and bedrock, have yielded fragments of at least three stratified
building phases, all dated on the basis of ceramics to the T'wenty-fifth Dynasty and Napatan
Periods. The structures are primarily of mud brick, seemingly small in scale (wall-widths
65-77 cm) and give little support in plan or architectural detail to the possibility of a
predecessor to the Taharka Temple although the wall orientations are nearly identical. The
area is characterized by numerous ovens, cylindrical mud-brick bins, and heavy concentra-
tions of bread-cone fragments. Deposition within seems either domestic or casual.

Taharka Temple complex

The temple’s pronaos, naos, and side-chambers, built of substantial mud brick, still stand,
and proved likely to have been built as a free-standing unit. This feature has only three,
stone-framed, doorways, although numerous stone fragments, presumably decorated stone
door-framings for a mud-brick structure, have been found (particularly in the later Meroitic
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Temple foundations), bearing Taharka cartouches and related hieroglyphic texts. These,
together with structural clues to the north and south of the temple, suggest that the naos and
pronaos once stood within a larger mud-brick complex in a temenos wall, the first to expand
beyond the bounds of the original South Girdle Wall. Western portions of this complex
were possibly derelict and certainly levelled for the construction of the Meroitic Temple
(see below). Work in this part of the complex was limited to gaps in the Meroitic Temple
paving and to an area north of the Taharka Temple within its north-east temenos wall; the
latter proved to have enclosed an open court. Fuller definition of the temenos wall was
possible, and one room was found to have been built against it. Limited tests below the
Meroitic Temple paving revealed a number of fragmentary mud-brick walls of similar
orientation but none offering as yet obvious association with other structures or firm
evidence for further continuations to the west and south.

Work on the temple foundations showed that, although it was a purely mud-brick
structure of classic pharaonic workmanship, it was founded not on bedrock but in simple
trenches cut up to 60 cm deep into previous strata, stone foundations, or sand. A reopening
of areas in the church within the temple south of the altar and within the temple’s south and
west doorways confirmed that the pronaos and two doorways were paved in stone. This
stonework is, however, heavily eroded, as is the south-east column-base exposed. Nothing
remains of stone door-framing, sill, or paving through the doorway into the naos; such
features must be presumed to have been built but lost.

A listing and assembling of numerous decorated and inscribed stone architectural
fragments identifiably of Taharka date on the site is being made, and a tentative
reconstruction of the four, still partly standing columns, has already been made; it is evident
that these stood to several drums higher (less capital) than as found when first excavated.

Temple 5

On the western side of the complex a rectangle of massive squared masonry survives from
the foundation of a large temple abutting the South Bastion and resting on a terrace cut into
bedrock. Its date and relationship with their temple-area building-phases has remained
enigmatic, but it can now be strategically placed between the South Bastion and the
Meroitic Temple. It was laid out as a rectangle approximately 10 x 27 m, close to and
parallel to the west edge of the hilltop. It stands much denuded, stripped of all finished
masonry and much of its upper foundation courses but the remaining stones bear mason’s
lines indicating much of its original extent and form. It appears to have been composed of
two rectangular units, one at each end, joined on the west side by a retaining wall. Stones of
the top course of the south block actually bear the incised plan for the placement of a
doorway, its outer sill, and socket stones as well as lines for wall faces. These lines delineate
a chamber about 4 m square within walls 1.5 m wide and an entry through the north wall.
Two ‘islands’ of deposit within the area of these foundations proved to be survivors of both
its construction and destruction, as they contain stratified structural fragments. The earlier
were probably fragments of the West Girdle Wall, the later patches of Meroitic Temple
forecourt paving on a stone-chip fill which appear to have been left, along with the mud
brick beneath, by robbers trenching for stone. The building that stood on these foundations
must have been utilized or abutted by the west walls of the Meroitic Temple’s middle and
hypostyle halls. The northern foundations would have necessarily been levelled for
construction of the Meroitic Temple forecourt. The Taharka Temple, in its orientation and
position, is the one obvious candidate for a companion building, for both share similar
symmetry. There remain, however, the problems of no common axis, no physical
connection, and no structural similarity.
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Meroitic Temple

Little remained of this temple to be excavated except a small area overlaid by the church
narthex and walling nearby, but two test excavations through the church narthex paving
proved that nothing of the temple remained in those spots. The removal of Christian house
walling to the south of the narthex revealed a significant amount of Meroitic painted mud
and plaster, supporting the supposition that the temple, although now preserved in stone,
was essentially a decorated mud-brick structure set on a stone base.

The south-east side-room proved to be an integral part of the temple but was an intrusion
into the Meroitic mud-brick magazine complex immediately to the east where it cut three
east-west mud-brick walls. Excavation of the open area to the east of the temple forecourt,
but within the temenos wall, showed that this area had served as an open dumping ground
for Roman and Meroitic refuse prior to the making of the forecourt; for its foundation
trenches were cut into the refuse. Both facts support a late Meroitic date for the construction
of the temple, in the case of the forecourt, perhaps even later than the erection of Meroitic
houses re-establishing the north-east temenos boundary wall. This area immediately north
of the Taharka Temple then became an open animal-stabling ground for the remainder of
the Meroitic Period.

What appear to be the front corners of the temple naos stand on heavy-stone foundation
blocks which were traced for approximately 6 m. The floors of the naos were recovered in
a test area adjacent to the church altar. Here 27 cm of uninterrupted thin mud-floor
accumulation interspersed with occasional cemented or whitewashed surfaces rested on the
eroded mud-brick sub-sill of the doorway to the naos. These floors, along with a similar
accumulation resting on the badly eroded pronaos stone-paving to the west, can be
interpreted as characteristic of the temple’s latter-day (i.e. Meroitic into X-Group) phase of
use. The street parallel to the temple south wall is paved with similar slabs at a level
corresponding to the Meroitic T'emple floors and, along with extensive crude stone repair to
the adjacent south wall exterior at this level, give a good impression of the continuing
deterioration suffered by the temple during the Late Meroitic times.

The Church

The tests mentioned above in the church which was built inside the temple added details of
its structural development. The fill supporting the granite altar stones was sealed by a 10 cm
accumulation of oil-soaked floors which continued into the naos and/or apse. Above the floors
was a 10 cm thickness of straw-laden dust and debris supporting the base course of the mud-
brick tribunal. This indicates Christian use of the temple prior to the installation of the apse.
With the tribunal in place, a mud layer was placed against its base to support, here and in
the narthex, a paving of selected river cobbles. Upon this paving were found two courses
remaining from the first ‘higab’ wall preserved in the church. Eventually most of the cobbles
were removed but a few remained under the ‘higab’ and behind the granite altar. At this time
the piers subdividing the narthex into three, and supporting arches, and a roof of smaller
span above were added. The whole floor was then laid with stone-slab paving on a dirt bed.
The long, much worn sill lying between nave and narthex is actually a reused full-length
temple door-jamb resting on fragments of the original temple sill. The south end of a
vaulted mud-brick crypt or tomb was uncovered just outside, and below, the narthex south
doorway.
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THE IDENTITY AND POSITIONS OF RELIEF
FRAGMENTS IN MUSEUMS AND
PRIVATE COLLECTIONS

Miscellaneous Reliefs from Sagqgara and Giza

By YVONNE HARPUR

THis i1s the first of a series of publications which will give the identity and/or
positions of hitherto unidentified Old and Middle Kingdom blocks in museums and
private collections. Many of these blocks have lain for years in museum storerooms
and galleries, often unpublished or known only through rather murky photographs;
other blocks have appeared as illustrations in well-known books and are familiar to us
all. In the majority of cases, it is impossible to reconstruct the events which would
explain why these reliefs were cut from tomb walls and how they came to lose their
identity. It is nevertheless probable that some were removed by museum staff or
archaeologists, whose failure to preserve the identity of each block was either due to
confusion before the reliefs reached their destination, or to a breakdown in the
system of coding used for identification. Certain blocks were no doubt taken from
tombs illegally, or at some stage handled with scarcely any appreciation of their
antiquity. These pieces have reached museums and private collections in a very sorry
state, with edges jagged or flaking, and surfaces chipped, cracked, and stained. In this
series of publications the basic aim is to trace the ownership of some of the blocks
mentioned above, and, in doing so, to provide a more complete record of the scenes
and inscriptions in private tombs of the Old and Middle Kingdoms.

The identification and positioning of fragments is not a matter of observation
alone. If this were so, one would expect far more success in the subject, especially
since many blocks have remained unidentified since the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. An eye for detail is certainly important, but there are other
factors to consider, and this first publication is the most appropriate place in which to
describe them.

1. Shape of the block. Although this is a significant aspect of relief identification,
a few points must be borne in mind. The shape of a block may have changed through
careless handling or deliberate cutting after its removal from a tomb, and the
adjoining scenes iz situ may have been damaged during the cutting procedure, so that
parts of the original edge have dropped away. These possibilities mean that the edge

I should like to thank the members of the Board of Management of the Gerald Avery Wainwright Near
Eastern Archaeological Fund (research expenses), and Mrs Marion Cox, Griffith Institute, Oxford (line-
drawings, figs. 3-10).
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of a block will not necessarily fit against the edge of the scene or inscription to which
it belongs. In addition, if a block is published as a line-drawing, one can rarely tell
whether the outline of the drawing represents the surface of the block or its general
shape, which could include sections below the surface. Any doubts are dispelled if
the block is also published as a photograph, or as a line-drawing with the under
surfaces indicated by shading. So far, I have found that blocks with neatly cut edges
often belong to the same tomb as similarly cut blocks in museums, or fit against
reliefs in situ, which have the same neat edges. Evidently some of these fragments
were to be reassembled in museums as tomb walls, whereas others were to be
displayed as selected scenes.!

2. Quality of the relief. Sometimes the reliefs in a tomb can vary in quality, but the
workmanship shown in a fragment and in the scene to which it joins will probably be
similar. For this reason, quality of relief can be an important factor in the process of
identification. Equally important is the background of the relief, where the stone
may be cut away completely, or cleared around the edges of figures, then graded
back. Distinctive chisel marks on the background should also be noted.

3. Colour traces remaining on the relief. The occurrence of colour naturally
depends upon the preservation of the relief fragment and the tomb from which it was
taken. Since both will have received different treatment over the years, a brightly
coloured relief could well come from a tomb with scarcely a trace of colour left.
There is one colour, however, which tends to remain when others have disappeared,
namely red brown. Different blocks show varying intensities of red brown on male
figures, and these contrasting shades can be matched with reliefs iz situ, in order to
narrow down the tombs to which a fragment might belong.? A further consideration
is the wash of colour which sometimes remains on the background of reliefs. This can
range from pale grey to a light biscuit or pinkish hue.

4. Style of the relief. Certain stylistic differences may be detected between scenes
at Giza and Saqqara. In general, figures in Giza tombs tend to be relatively angular
and muscular in appearance, whereas those in Saqqgara tombs have softer outlines
and fairly rounded bodies. Of course, these characteristics do not always apply, but
they are common enough to enable one to quickly select possibilities from which to
attempt an identification. Stylistic contrasts within the same necropolis are more
difficult to distinguish, yet they do occur. For example, the stocky, rather large-
headed figures in the chapels of 7% and K-i-m-rhw are very different from the tall,
well-proportioned types in the tomb of Mrrw-k;-i, and the plump figures in the tomb
of Pth-htp(w) II have little in common with the broad-shouldered types in the
tombs of cnh-m-c-Hr and Nfr-ssm-Pth.3 Saqqara nobles are frequently buried in

! A number of relief fragments are neatly cut above or below the register lines so that parts of the upper or
lower scenes are visible. Perhaps this was a precautionary measure to ensure that the chosen block was removed
without damaging the hieroglyphic text above the scene, or the legs of figures or animals on the lower baseline.

2 The various shades of brown are particularly noticeable on Old Kingdom relief fragments currently
displayed in Rooms 32, 36, and 37 of the Cairo Museum. Some of the figures are almost chocolate-coloured,
whereas others are a much brighter orange brown.

3 L. Epron and F. Daumas, Le Tombeau de Tt, 1 (Cairo, 1939); H. Wild, Le Tombeau de T, 11, 111 (Cairo,
1953-66); M. Mogensen, Le Mastaba égyptien de la Glyptothéque Ny Carlsberg (Copenhagen, 1921); P. Duell
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family groups of tombs which show similarities in the style of their chapel reliefs.
This fact can provide a starting-point for the identification of blocks showing similar
workmanship.

5. Size of the figures and registers. No tomb publications give the measurements of
different registers and the sizes of figures therein. This means that the only accurate
way of relating a fragment to a particular wall by size correspondences is to have
direct access to the block and the tomb. Measuring can be a crucial aspect of block
identification, but gaining access to the reliefs in order to take the necessary
measurements is sometimes impossible.

6. Faults, stains, and other blemishes on the relief. Many of the surface blemishes on
unidentified reliefs will have occurred after a block’s removal from a tomb, but some
reliefs bear marks which must continue on the adjoining surfaces: water stains, for
example, or cracks or natural faults in the stone. The simplest way to distinguish
significant markings is to examine their width, especially on the upper and lower
edges of a block. If they do not taper away at this point, then the chances are that the
marks will be present on the wall from which the block was taken.

7. Type of stone. Old Kingdom scenes were generally carved on limestone, with or
without a surface of plaster. The plaster coating provides a better clue to the identity
of a relief than the quality of the stone, because
weathering and age have caused so much deterioration l]:II:[I:[D]:[[
of the finer types of limestone. At present, I have
identified only one relief on the basis of its stone type,
but it comes from a temple rather than a private tomb.
This block will be discussed in a later publication in
the series.

Fic. 1

8. Marks on the relief showing the end of the wall or wall section. These marks
indicate the approximate position of a block within a composition. They occur as a
plain line or as a pattern of coloured bars which sometimes decorates the upper edge
of a composition as well as its sides (see fig. 1).

9. Marks or colour traces on the relief indicating the lowest register. The lowest
register on a relief fragment is indicated by two lines forming a right angle at the end
of a scene (L); the lower line continues horizontally, as the lowest baseline of the
composition. If black, yellow, or red-brown colour bands are visible below this
line the block must belong to the bottom of a wall, because these bands form
the traditional wall base decoration. In decorated chapels of Old Kingdom date, the
border of coloured bands illustrated in fig. 1 was never placed below scenes at the
base of a wall; a relief with this pattern along its lower edge must come from a wall
section above a niche or doorway, where the border has been used as a frame. One
such block is now on display in the Cairo Museum.*
et al., The Mastaba of Mereruka, 2 vols. (Chicago, 1938); R. F. E. Paget and A. A. Pirie, The Tomb of Ptah-hetep
(London, 1898); J. Capart, Une Rue de tombeaux a Sagqarah, 2 vols. (Brussels, 1907).

1 This is CG 1562, currently on display in Room 32 of the Museum: L. Borchardt, Denkmdler des alten
Reiches, 11 (Cairo, 1964), 24-5, pl. 63.
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10. Remains of scenes or texts in the upper or lower registers. Many unidentified
blocks consist of a scene section in one register with broken edges of scenes above
and below. Naturally our eyes are attracted to the scene most fully preserved, but, if
a block is to be identified, the broken edges must be examined just as carefully.
These fragments could be parts of scenes depicted elsewhere on the wall from which
the block originated, or they could show the broken upper or lower sections of an
inscription which may be matched with a broken text in situ. Detailed study of
the broken registers and subsequent examination of tombs with similar register
sequences form one of the most effective methods of identifying and positioning Old
and Middle Kingdom blocks.

11. The depiction of baselines on a relief. A scene on a block and on the wall to
which it belongs will show the same method of depicting register baselines. These
vary in execution from an incised line (usually in poorer tombs) to a ‘rolled’ line
raised well above the background. Between the two contrasting types there is a
baseline defined by a pair of horizontally incised lines, and one indicated by a thick
raised line flattened along the surface. The last baseline is the most common type,
though there is considerable variation in the quality of workmanship and depth of
cutting.

12. Hieroglyphic inscriptions and palaeography. A large number of unidentified
blocks are decorated with hieroglyphs and major figures or hieroglyphs alone. Thus,
many relief fragments are simply unfinished sentences or titles which may be
matched through their meaning with other fragments, or with inscriptions iz situ. If
an activity is depicted on a fragment, the inscriptions on the horizontal edges of the
surface may be the key to establishing the scenes that were once shown above or
below; sometimes parts of signs can be matched, while on other occasions the text
might be preserved well enough to read (cf. no. 10). In the present study, peculiarities
in the depiction and position of individual hieroglyphs (i.e. aspects of palaeography)
are not important methods of identification because most of the selected reliefs show
scenes with fairly limited inscriptions. Once text fragments are included in the project,
palaeography is certain to become a more significant method of identification.?

13. Scene sequences and positions. A knowledge of Old and Middle Kingdom scene
sequences can be a useful aid when determining the types of composition to which
a block belongs. If, for example, a relief shows donkeys loaded with grain, it will
probably belong to a sequence of grain harvesting, transport of grain by donkeys,
stacking of sheaves, and perhaps threshing and winnowing. This is because the scene
of donkeys loaded with grain is rarely shown in isolation in Old and Middle
Kingdom tombs. Grain harvesting, on the other hand, will not necessarily belong to
a sequence because harvesting is frequently depicted by itself, above or below
unrelated activities. A further example is the row of dancers which is normally
associated with a banquet, near musicians and bearers. In this context, dancers are

® Numerous text fragments are published as hand copies of the inscriptions with no indication as to the size
and shape of the stone on which they were carved. This seriously reduces the number of methods one can use to
match the fragments (e.g. aspects of palaeography, colour traces, quality of the relief, measurements, etc.).
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rarely depicted in a register above family members or food offerings; their usual
position is in a lower register, either level with, or below, the feet of the major figure.
Butchery is another scene which tends to be shown at the bottom of a composition,
usually with the meat-bearers oriented towards the false door on the west wall. This,
however, could be an imitation of real life; for joints of meat were probably carried
by bearers to the stone offering table which was set in front of the false door. It is
inevitable that there will be exceptions to the rule in the sequence of scenes depicted
on chapel walls. Even so, a researcher who has acquired a detailed knowledge of the
known Old and Middle Kingdom compositions is a better equipped to develop a
successful line of investigations on the basis of typical scene positions.

— < ——er
< —
(a) (b) (c) (d)

Fic. 2

14. Orientation of figures and inscriptions in a relief. The orientation of offering
bearers depicted on a relief fragment will generally follow the orientation of the
composition to which the fragment belongs, and the presence of a major figure in this
composition may be deduced from the postures of the bearers. The orientation of
daily life scenes, however, is more difficult to establish because the figures often face
each other. Sometimes, left- or right-facing hieroglyphs in a damaged lower register,
or feet, hooves, oar-tips, or punting poles in an upper register will reveal the general
orientation of the composition, yet none of these is conclusive evidence if the wall
scenes are divided into two horizontal sections. In this case, the figures in each
section may be oriented in opposite directions, to face major figures or other
important features on the same surface, or on an adjoining wall (see fig. 2).6

15. Developments in the rendering of figures and scenes. During the Old Kingdom,
many new details were introduced into the repertory of tomb scenes: figure postures,
activities, objects, clothing, wigs, and so on. After a lengthy study of these details
I have provided many of them with a terminus ante quem, so that the date of a
composition can be estimated by the presence of particular features; such data can be
applied to unidentified relief fragments as well as wall scenes, in order to cut down
the number of chapels to which these pieces might belong. This system is not
intended as a precise method of dating as much as a flexible guide. As such, it has
proved a useful means of tracing the identity of fragments depicting figures and
activities, with or without texts.”

6 Good examples are: LD 11, pl. 21 (Mr-ib-i); H. Junker, Giza, 11 (Vienna and Leipzig, 1934), fig. 20
(K#+i-ni-nswt); A. M. Moussa and H. Altenmiiller, Das Grab des Nianchchnum und Chnumhotep (Mainz, 1977),
figs. 12-13 (Ni-cnh-Hnmw and Hnmw-htp(w)).

7 Y. Harpur, The Orientation and Development of Scenes and Figures in Old Kingdom Private Tombs (Oxford,
1982), 155-335 (Unpublished D.Phil. dissertation in the Bodleian Library, Oxford).
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16. Descriptions of unpublished tombs. A large number of Memphite tombs are
known only through descriptions made at the time of their excavation or shortly
afterwards. The most important of these were written by Auguste Mariette, towards
the end of the nineteenth century, and George Reisner, just before the mid twentieth
century.® Mariette’s notes on the decoration in Sagqgara mastabas are particularly
valuable, because he included many texts as well as comments about unusual
features in the scenes. Some of the compositions he described are now in the Cairo
Museum, in the form of identified blocks; I believe that certain unidentified blocks
in the same galleries could also come from his excavations, having been removed
from the tombs before they were sanded up (cf. no. 2).

17. Code numbers. Occasionally the back of an unidentified fragment is of special
interest because it may bear numbers referring to the tomb from which the piece was
taken, or to a code used for reassembling purposes. These must not be confused w